## **University of Alberta**

## The mechanism of endothelial cell specific gene expression of Von Willebrand Factor in vivo

by

Marjan Nassiri

#### A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science in Experimental Medicine

#### Department of MEDICINE

#### ©Marjan Nassiri Spring 2010 Edmonton, Alberta

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Libraries to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only. Where the thesis is converted to, or otherwise made available in digital form, the University of Alberta will advise potential users of the thesis of these terms.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis and, except as herein before provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatsoever without the author's prior written permission.

## **Examining Committee**

#### Supervisor:

Dr. Nadia Jahroudi, Department of Medicine, Division of Nephrology

#### **Committee Members:**

Dr. Manijeh Pasdar, Department of Cell Biology

Dr. Allan Murray, Department of Medicine, Division of Nephrology and Transplant Immunology

Dr. Thomas Mueller, Department of Medicine, Division of Nephrology and Transplant Immunology

### Abstract

In vivo analyses of the Von Willebrand Factor (VWF) promoter previously demonstrated that a fragment spanning sequences -487 to +247 targets promoter activation to brain vascular endothelial cells. This fragment is active in all embryonic vessels of transgenic mice but in adult mice its activity is restricted to brain vascular endothelial cells, while endogenous VWF gene is expressed in vasculature of all major organs.

In this study we demonstrate that a DNase I hypersensitive (HSS) sequences in intron 51 of the VWF gene contain cis-acting elements that are necessary for the VWF gene transcription in a subset of lung endothelial cells *in vivo*.

Our results demonstrated that Nuclear Factor 1 (NF1) and Nuclear transcription Factor Y (NFY) repressors contribute to VWF organ-specific regulation. Mutation of the NF1 binding site resulted in promoter activation in lung and heart, while mutation of the repressor corresponding to a novel binding site for NFY resulted in promoter activation in kidney vasculature.

## Acknowledgment

I would like to thank:

Ms. Sharon Campbell (University of Alberta Department of Medicine Research Manager and Administrator - Graduate Education Program) for her help and advice throughout my Master of Science program academic activities

Mr. Stephen Kulak (University of Alberta Department of Medicine, Division of Nephrology, Nephrology Lab) for providing valuable technical assistance in conducting lab experiments including RT-PCR and immunofluorescence

Ms. Kathy Koslowski (University of Alberta Department of Medicine, Division of Nephrology, Nephrology Lab) for her help and support throughout the entire period of my lab experience

Dr. Patrick Nation for teaching me the techniques of histological characterization of the blood vessels expressing the LacZ transgenes

My thesis committee members; Dr. Manijeh Pasdar (Department of Cell Biology), Dr. Allan Murray (Department of Medicine, Division of Nephrology and Transplant Immunology), and Dr. Thomas Mueller (Department of Medicine, Division of Nephrology and Transplant Immunology) for their constructive input and advice

And,

I would like to extend my sincerest appreciation to Dr. Nadia Jahroudi, a true mentor and a great teacher.

## **Table of Contents**

С	HAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1	
	ENDOTHELIAL CELLS	1	
	ENDOTHELIAL CELL HETEROGENEITY	2	
	ENDOTHELIAL CELL DIVERSITY IN ARTERIES AND VEINS	3	
	ORGAN-SPECIFIC HETEROGENEITY OF ENDOTHELIAL CELLS	5	
	ENDOTHELIUM IN DISEASES	7	
	ENDOTHELIAL CELL GENE EXPRESSION	8	
	DENTIFICATION OF ENDOTHELIAL SPECIFIC PROMOTER	. 10	
	ENDOTHELIAL CELL GENE REGULATION IN VIVO	. 13	
	VON WILLEBRAND FACTOR (VWF)	. 14	
	CHARACTERIZATION OF VWF PROMOTER AND ITS REGULATION IN VITRO	. 15	
	ORGAN-RESTRICTED ACTIVITY OF VON WILLEBRAND FACTOR PROMOTER	. 16	
CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS			
	GENERATION OF TRANSGENIC MICE	. 18	
	ORGAN PREPARATION	. 21	
	RNA PREPARATION AND REAL-TIME POLYMERASE CHAIN REACTION (PCR) ANALYSES	. 21	
	PREPARATION OF TISSUES FOR IMMUNOHISTOCHEMICAL ANALYSES	. 22	
	IMMUNOHISTOCHEMISTRY STAINING	. 23	
	IMMUNOFLOURESCENT STAINING	. 25	
С	HAPTER 3: RESULTS	. 27	
	BACKGROUND	. 27	
	Role of Intron 51 HSS in VWF promoter activity <i>in vivo</i>	. 28	

ROLE OF NF1 AND NFY IN VWF PROMOTER ACTIVITY IN VIVO	
(I) RNA ANALYSES OF LACZ TRANSGENE IN TRANSGENIC MICE	
(II) IMMUNOHISTOCHEMICAL DETECTION OF LACZ PROTEIN EXPRESSION IN TRANSGENIC MICE	
DETERMINING THE PATTERN OF NF1 ISOFORMS	
CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION	
FIGURES	44
Figure 1	
Figure 2	45
Figure 3	46
Figure 4	
FIGURE 5	
FIGURE 6	
FIGURE 7	50
FIGURE 8	51
Figure 9	
Figure 10	53
FIGURE 11	54
FIGURE 12	55
BIBLIOGRAPHY	56

## **List of Figures**

Figure 1. Schematic display of VWF promoter (Page 45)

Figure 2. Schematic display of DNase I hypersensitive site in VWF gene (Page 46)

Figure 3. (Page 47)

- A. Schematic display of VWF-LacZ, HSS-VWF-LacZ, VWF-LacZ-HSS
- B. Anti-LacZ Immuno-stained organs in HSS-VWF-LacZ transgenic mice

Figure 4. (Page 48)

- A. Anti-LacZ Immuno-stained brain and lung in HSS-VWF-LacZ
- B. Anti-LacZ Immuno-stained brain and lung in VWF-LacZ-HSS
- C. Anti-LacZ Immuno-stained brain and lung in VWF-LacZ
- D. IgG Immuno-stained brain and lung in HSS-VWF-LacZ
- E. Anti-LacZ Immuno-stained brain and lung in wild type mice

Figure 5. Immunofluorescent -stained brain and lung in VWF-LacZ-HSS (Page 49)

#### Figure 6. (Page 50)

- A. Schematic display of LacZK
- B. Schematic display of LacZK<sup>NF1</sup>
- C. Schematic display of LacZK<sup>NFY</sup>
- D. Schematic display of LacZK<sup>NF1-NFY</sup>

Figure 7. (Page 51)

- A. Real-time PCR analysis of endogenous VWF and Tie2 mRNA in LacZK transgenic mice
- B. Real-time PCR analysis of LacZ mRNA in LacZK transgenic mice

**Figure 8.** Real-time PCR analysis of LacZ transgene mRNA in LacZK<sup>NF1</sup> of 3 independent lines of transgenic mice (Page 52)

Figure 9. (Page 53)

- A. Real-time PCR analysis of LacZ transgene mRNA in LacZK<sup>NFY</sup> of 2 independent lines of transgenic mice
- B. Real-time PCR analysis of LacZ transgene mRNA in LacZK<sup>NF1-NFY</sup> of 2 independent lines of transgenic mice

**Figure 10.** Immunohistochemical analysis of LacZ expression in various organs of LacZK, LacZK<sup>NF1</sup> and LacZK<sup>NF1-NFY</sup> transgenic mice (Page 54)

Figure 11. Immunofluorescent analysis of NF1 isoforms expression in various organs of mice (Page 55)

**Figure 12.** Model describing the hypothesis of de-repressor leading to promoter activation in distinct organs (Page 56)

# Glossary

ACE	Angiotensin Converting Enzyme
ALCAM	Activated Leukocyte Cell adhesion Molecule
Alk 1	Activin-receptor-like kinase 1
AP-1	Activator Protein 1
AT III	Anti-Thrombin III
BBB	Blood-Brain Barrier (BBB)
<b>COUP-TFII</b>	COUP Transcription Factor 2
CX43	Connexin 43
Depp	Decidual protein induced by progestrone
DL4	Delta-Like 4
ELF-1	ephrin-A2 (EFNA2)
eNOS	Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase
EPAS 1	Endothelial PAS domain protein 1
EphB	Ephrine type-B receptor
ERG-1	CUB and zona pellucida-like domains 1 (CUZD1)
ET-1	Endothelin-1
ETS	E-twenty six (transcription factor family)
Flk-1	Fetal Liver Kinase-1
FLT1	fms-related tyrosine kinase 1
GATA	A family of transcription factors known as GATA 1 to 6
HAT	Histone Acetyltransferase
HDAC	Histone Deactylase
HEY 1	Hairy/Enhancer-of-split related with YRPW motif 1
HEY 2	Hairy/Enhancer-of-split related with YRPW motif 2
HLP	Histone H1-Like Protein
HMT	Histone Methyltransferases
ICAM-1	Inter-Cellular Adhesion Module-1
ICAM-2	Intercellular Cell Adhision Molecule-2
IL	Interleukin
KLF2	Kruppel-like transcription Factor 2
MCP-1	Monocyte Chemoattraction Protein-1
MHC II	Major Histocompatibility Complex II
NERF-2	E74-like factor 2 (ELF2)
NF1	Nuclear Factor 1
NFY	Nuclear Transcription Factor Y
NO	Nitric Oxyde
NRP1	Neurophilin 1

NRP2	Neurophilin 2
PAF	Platelet activating factor
PAI 1&2	Plasminogen activator inhibitor 1 & 2
PCAF	p300/CBP-associated factor
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction
PECAM-1	Platelet Endothelial Cell Adhesion Module-1
PGI2	Prostaglandin I2
ROBO4	Roundabout homologue 4
SP1	Sp1 transcription factor
TFPI	Tissue Factor Pathway Inhibitor
Tie 1	Tyrosine kinase with immunoglubolin and EGF-like domains 1
Tie 2	Tyrosine kinase with immunoglubolin and EGF-like domains 2
tPA	tissue Plasminogen Activator
TX A2/F2a	Thrombaxane A2/F2a
TXA2	Thrombaxane A2
VCAM	Vascular Cell Adhision Molecule
VE-cadherin	Vascular Endothelial - Calcium dependent adhesion molecules
VEGF	Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor
Vezf-1	Vascular endothelial zinc finger-1
VWF	Von Willebrand Factor

# **Chapter 1: Introduction**

#### **Endothelial cells**

Endothelial cells cover the entire luminal surface of blood vessels and lymphatics. This cell layer is called endothelium. Although the shape of endothelial cells varies in different vessels, in general they are very flat; their thickness is from less than  $0.1\mu m$  in capillaries and veins to  $1\mu m$  in aorta. They are  $10-20\mu m$  in diameter. The alignment of the nuclei of endothelial cells are as the direction of the blood flow (1;2).

The endothelium not only provide a barrier between the blood component and the tissues but also play crucial roles in many physiological and pathophysiological processes including angiogenesis, maintaining vessel toning and metastasis (3;4).

Endothelial cells selectively filter gases, fluids and various molecules across their cell membrane (5). They also participate in haemostasis function. They normally provide an antithrombotic surface for blood-tissue interaction by production of anticoagulants such as Prostaglandin I2 (PGI2), Thrombomudulin, Antithrombin III (AT III) and tissue Plasminogen Activator (tPA) (6). However in response to injury, they produce procoagulation factors such as Von Willebrand Factor (VWF), Thromboxan A2 (TxA2), Thromboplastin, Factor V, Platelet Activating Factor (PAF), and Plasminogen Activator Inhibitor 1&2 (PAI 1&2) (6).

Endothelium maintains vessels stability and integrity by production of matrix-associated proteins including fibronectin, Laminin, Collagen I-II-III-IV-VIII-XVIII and proteoglycan. These mediate the junction between endothelial cells and the subendothelium (6).

Endothelial cells play key roles in immune and inflammatory reactions by producing inflammatory mediators like Interleukin 1, 6, 8 (IL 1, 6, 8), Leukotriene B4-C4-D4-E4, Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein-1 (MCP-1) and Major Histocompatibility Complex II (MHC II) (6).They also regulate the vascular tone and therefore maintain the blood pressure and blood flow. This regulation is achieved by altering the production of vasodilator including Nitric Oxide (NO) and Prostacyclin and vasoconstrictor such as Endothelin, Thromboxane A2/F2a (TXA2/F2a), Angiotension Converting Enzyme (ACE), leukotrienes and free radicals (6).

Endothelial cells participate in the processes of angiogenesis and vasculogenesis with stimulation by growth factors such as Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor (VEGF). They can also express several factors such as insulin like growth factor, transforming growth factor and colony stimulating factor that are necessary for formation of new vessels (6).

#### Endothelial cell heterogeneity

Endothelial cells and hematopoetic cells arise from a precursor cell which is hemangioblast. Splanchopleuricmesoderm drives mesenchymal cells into hemangioblasts, which are the precursor of intermediate pre-endothelial cells. The preendothelial cells can differentiate into either hematopoetic or endothelial cells (7;8). Although all endothelial cells have a common origin from the mesoderm, endothelial cells of different organs and vessel types have distinct phenotypes, functions and pattern of gene expression. This diversity is consistent with the function of endothelial cells, which must provide the needs of the underlying tissues. As an example, endothelial cells in kidney are fenestrated to facilitate the filtering function of the kidney (2;9) while in brain vessels, they have tight junctions that generate the blood-brain barrier (BBB) to protect the brain from fluctuations in blood components (2). In addition, endothelial cells need to survive in different environments since the blood chemistry varies in different organs. As an example, endothelial cells in lung are exposed to high amount of oxygen, whereas in kidney they are in hypoxic environment. Therefore phenotypic and functional variations of endothelial cells make them able to cope with and respond to these variations in their surroundings (2;10).

#### Endothelial cell diversity in arteries and veins

The diversity in endothelial cells between arterial and venous vessels is observed from the very first stages of development. During the vascular system development, the primary capillary plexus derived from angioblasts differentiates into arteries, veins and capillaries through a process that is affected by genetic as well as epigenetic factors such as blood flow and oxygen level (11).

Genes that are preferentially expressed in arteries include ephrinB2, Delta-like 4 (Dll4), Neurophilin 1 (NRP1), Hairy/enhancer -of- split related with YRPW 1 and 2 (Hey1 and Hey2), Activin-receptor-like kinase 1 (Alk1), decidual protein induced by progesterone (Depp) and endothelial PAS domain protein 1 (EPAS1). Some venous endothelial cells express genes including Ephrin type-B receptor 4 (EphB4), neurophilin 2 (NRP2) and COUP transcription factor 2 ( COUP-TFII) (11).

The details of molecular mechanisms that differentiate arterial and venous endothelial cells are still unclear; however some studies have revealed that a complex signaling pathway participate in this diversity (11). The ephrins/ Ephs system plays an important role in arterial endothelial cell differentiation, angiogenesis and cell migration during embryogenesis (12). Several members of the ephrins/ Ephs family such as EphB2, EphB3, EphB4 participate in embryonic vascular development (11). Through several mutation analyses, it was shown that the expression of ephrinB2 and EphB4 are necessary for the distinction between arterial and venous endothelial cells respectively (11).

The Notch signaling pathway acts upstream of the ephrinB2 system and it is involved in establishment of arterial endothelial cell identity. Diminishing the Notch activity results in disappearance of arterial endothelial cell markers like ephrinB2 and activation of venous markers like EphB4 (13).

VEGF, which is a proangiogenic growth factor, participates in the activation of the Notch signaling pathway. Along its role in angiogenic process, it is also a crucial factor in differentiation of endothelial cells. The identified receptors for VEGF include Fetal Liver Kinase1 (Flk-1), FMS- like tyrosine kinase 1 (FLT1) and neurophilin-1 (Nrp-1) (11;14). The knock out of Nrp1 results in defects in differentiation of arterial endothelial cells in a way that also impairs the smooth muscle formation in arteries. This indicates that the arterial specific phenotype of endothelial cells is necessary for development of smooth muscle cells in arteries during angiogenesis (11).

Genetic factors are important in endothelial cell differentiation. COUP-TFII, a member of orphan nuclear receptor family, plays a crucial role in venous endothelial cell differentiation. COUP-TFII is exclusively expressed in venous endothelial cells (15). It acts upstream of EphB4 and in mouse embryos of COUP-TFII knock out, the arterial markers such as ephrinB2 and Nrp1 are expressed in veins (11).

Epigenetic factors also have an important role in determining the endothelial cell identity. The differentiation of endothelial cells is also affected by its environment. Endothelial cells that are removed from arteries and explanted to veins or vice versa can express arteries or venous markers similar to the host vessels (11). One of the important factors in transformation of these cells is the direction of the blood flow which can up regulate venous markers and down regulate arterial markers in a reversible way (16).

The oxygen level can also determine artery and vein endothelial cell differentiation. It is shown that hypoxia stops the expression of the artery specific markers such as Dll4 and ephrin2 (17).

#### **Organ-specific heterogeneity of endothelial cells**

The diversity among endothelial cells not only exists in the endothelial cells of different types of vessels, but also observed in similar vessels of different organs. The endothelial cells of each vascular bed have their unique structure (18). This diversity could be used in targeted therapy for patients with organ specific vascular diseases (19).

In heart, the endocardial endothelial cells are large and have many microvilli. In comparison with myocardial endothelial cells, endocardial endothelial cells have deeper

intracellular clefts, more gap junctions and tight junctions (20). Connexin 43 (CX43), 40 (CX40), and 37 (CX37) are expressed in endocardial endothelial cells which are not seen in myocardial endothelial cells (21). VWF and Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase (eNOS) gene expressions are higher in endocardium endothelial cells in comparison with myocardial capillary endothelial cells (22;23). Receptor-like tyrosine phosphatase mu is expressed in the myocardial endothelial cells of capillaries and arteries but not in vein endothelial cells (24).

Heterogeneity in gene expression is seen in lung endothelial cells. As an example, Angiotensin-I Converting Enzyme (ACE) expression is mainly seen in alveolar capillary endothelial cells. The systemic capillary endothelial cells are only responsible for 10% of expression of this protein (25). In smaller pulmonary vessel endothelial cells, activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule (ALCAM) is expressed (26). Alveolar capillary endothelial cells do not express VWF while endothelial cells of the larger vessels of lung express this molecule (27). The endothelial cells of bronchial vessels are more permeable and more reactive to inflammation and have more angiogenic capabilities compared to endothelial cells of pulmonary capillaries (28;29). This capacity is seen more in bronchial capillaries express higher level of E-selectin, which puts them in increased state of activation in response to inhaled antigens (31).

In liver, the hepatic sinusoidal endothelial cells, which represent the capillary network of the liver, are fenestrated. Sinusoidal endothelial cells have gaps and less organized basement membrane which promote these cells to efficiently filter and transfer lipoproteins and small chylomicron between blood and hepatocytes (32). Sinusoidal endothelial cells stimulate hepatocytes regeneration by producing hepatocyte growth factor (33). Liver is also an important site for leukocyte migration in the body via sinusoidal endothelial cells. Liver sinusoidal endothelial cells express high levels of Inter-Cellular Adhesion Molecule 1 (ICAM-1). Knock out of ICAM-1 results in low leukocyte adhesion to the endothelium of sinusoids (34). Sinusoidal endothelial cells also play a role in regulation of vasomotor toning by expressing the endothelin-1 (ET-1) receptor ETB and Nitric Oxide (NO) release (35;36).

In kidney, the glomerular endothelial cells have a fenestrated pattern that is 60 to 80 nm in diameter. They approximately cover 20% of the endothelial surface (37). VWF gene expression is confined to some human glomerular endothelial cells (27). eNOS is expressed at higher levels in endothelial cells of the renal medulla (vasa recta) than glomeruli and peritubular capillaries of the cortex (19). The gap junction protein expression is different among the renal vasculature. For instance connexin 37 and 40 which are gap junction proteins, are expressed in afferent arterioles, whereas connexin 43 is expressed in afferent and efferent arterioles (38). Claudin-10 and Claudin-15 are expressed only in vasa recta endothelial cells (39). The urea transporter UT-B1 is only expressed in endothelial cells of descending vasa recta (40).

#### **Endothelium in diseases**

The diversity among endothelial cells is also reflected in endothelial cells in different diseases. As an example, in atrial fibrillation, the level of eNOS in heart endothelium is decreased (23). Thrombomodulin and tissue factor pathway inhibitor (TFPI) expression in the endocardium of the atrium is downregulated in rapid atrial pacing in rats (41), which can be a reason for thrombosis in atrial fibrillation. In aortic stenosis,

neovascularization of the endothelial cells of the valve occurs. The endothelium of these neovesseles express Platelet Endothelial Cell Adhesion Molecule-1 (PECAM-1) (42). In obesity, diabetes and hypertension, abnormalities in vessels such as arteriolar narrowing and/or dysfunction is observed which is almost always associated with changes in the endothelial cells gene expression. As an example, diabetes and hypertension in rats are associated with downregulation of NO synthase in myocardial capillaries (43).

In portal hypertension there is underproduction of NO in liver sinusoids (44). In cirrhosis the expression of PECAM-1/CD3 and cyclooxygenase-2 is upregulated in sinusoidal endothelial cells (45;46).

The main feature in hemolytic uremic syndrome is damage of endothelium, which is typically caused by Shiga-like toxin, drugs or bacterial infection. The Shiga-toxin receptors are expressed in endothelial cells of peritubular capillaries (47).

In type 1 diabetes, VEGF, calcineurin-A- $\alpha$ , fractalkine and adrenomedullin expressions specifically in glomerular endothelial cells are increased (48-51).

#### Endothelial cell gene expression

Endothelial cells are multifunctional. To accomplish their diverse roles, they need to have a highly regulated gene expression pattern (52).

There are several genes that are preferentially or exclusively expressed in endothelial cells. They include VWF, vascular endothelial (VE)- Cadherin, eNOS, Tyrosine kinase with immunoglobulin and EGF-like domains 1 and 2 (Tie1 and Tie 2), interacellular cell

adhesion molecule-2 (ICAM-2), Flt-1/VEGF-R1 and Flk-1/VEGF-R2 (52). Expression of other endothelial-specific genes like vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM-1) and E-selectin is induced in response to external stimuli such as inflammation (52).

Mechanisms of transcriptional regulation of these endothelial specific genes are mainly studied through identification and analysis of the promoter and other regulatory elements of the target genes.

In general the process that regulates gene expression is a complex system that includes activation of transcription machinery, interaction of general and cell-type specific transacting factors with specific DNA cis-acting elements which are identified in the 3', distant 5', introns as well as proximal promoter regions.

Along with the trans-acting factors and cis-acting elements, the structure of the chromatin is also very important in regulating the activation of gene expression (52). Chromatin structure can be changed by DNA methylation of the cytosine residues in CpG sites. This can prevent the interaction of the trans-acting factors with the chromatin (53). It can also be changed through modifications of histones. Such modifications include acetylation, methylation, phosphorylation, ubiquitylation, ADP-ribosylation and sumoylation of the unstructured N terminus of histones' tails (52).

Trans-acting factors play a central role in activation of gene expression by modifying chromatin structure in addition to their function as either activator or repressor of transcription. They participate in establishment of transcriptionally active chromatin structure. They can recruit co-activators with chromatin-remodeling activity to the gene. The interaction of trans-acting factors with the chromatin is not only determined by the chromatin structure, but also depends on the factors that can remodel the chromatin structure such as DNA methytransferases, histone acetyltransferases (HATs), histone deactylases (HDACs), histone methyltransferases (HMTs) and nucleosomal remodeling proteins (52).

#### Identification of endothelial specific promoter

To determine the process that regulates endothelial specific gene expression, the promoters of several endothelial-specific genes have been identified both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. These include promoters for ICAM-2, VE-Cadherin, Tie-2, Flk-1/VEGF-R2, eNOS, Flk-1and VWF which will be discussed independently in later sections.

Analyses of some of these promoters *in vivo* have demonstrated organ specific activation pattern as well as endothelial specific characteristics.

Analyses of eNOS gene promoter demonstrated that a 1.6 kbp (-1600 to +22) of the 5' flanking region functioned as endothelial-specific promoter. However this region was shown to activate gene expression in endothelial cells of brain, heart and skeletal muscle; while a larger fragment from -5200 to +28 activated the gene expression in lung, kidney, liver and spleen endothelial cells in addition to those observed with 1.6 kbp fragment (54).

Analyses of the regulatory region of Tie-2 gene in transgenic mice demonstrated that the 5' sequences contain necessary elements for its endothelial cell activity in mice embryonic vasculature while sequences in the first intron (located 10 kbp downstream of transcription initiation site) are required for expression in endothelial cells of all vasculature in adult mice (54).

Analyses of the 3.5 kbp fragment of the human VE-Cadherin gene showed that while these sequences functioned as an endothelial specific promoter and allowed temporal expression in embryonic vessels; in adult, promoter activation was mainly detected in endothelial cells of lung, heart, ovary, spleen and kidney glomeruli. Expression in vasculature of other organs including brain, liver and skeletal muscle was insignificant (55).

In contrast analyses of ICAM-2 and Roundabout homolog 4 (Robo-4) promoters have shown that the 0.33 kb (-202 to + 44) fragment of ICAM-2 and a 3 kbp fragment of Robo-4 drive expression in endothelial cells of all organs (56).

A number of novel transcriptional regulators that are mainly expressed in endothelial cells are reported; however, target endothelial specific genes that are regulated by these factors are either limited or not known. For instance, a Kruppel-like transcription factor (KLF2), is in most part expressed in endothelium of blood vessels (57). It is hypothesized that KLF2 participates in regulation of the expression of genes which are involved in anti-thrombotic and anti-inflammatory function of endothelial cells (52). KLF2 expression is upregulated by blood flow and down regulated by pro-inflammatory cytokines (57). Over-expression of KLF2 up-regulates eNOS and thrombomodulin gene expression and suppresses the expression of VCAM-1 and E-Selectin in the presence of pro-inflammatory cytokines (58).

Vascular endothelial zinc finger-1 (Vezf-1) also is a transcription factor that its expression is limited to endothelial cells. It is shown to be expressed concomitantly with Flk-1/VEGF-R2 when angioblasts differenciate into endothelial cells. Deficit in Vezf1 results in defect in the development of vessels, endothelial cell integrity and formation (59).

DNA analyses of promoter regions of endothelial specific genes have failed to reveal the presence of common cis-acting element that may lead to characterization of a master regulator. Nevertheless, there are some cis-acting elements that are present in multiple endothelial cells-specific gene promoters. They include binding sites for E- twenty six (Ets) family members, globin transcription factor 1 (GATA), SP1, activator protein 1 (AP1) and Octamer transcription factor. These transcription factors although not endothelial specific, are necessary for expression of many endothelial specific genes (52).

GGAA/T cis-acting element is the consensus binding site for the Ets family of transacting factors. They are identified in the promoters of some endothelial specific genes (60). Ets factors such as Ets-1, Ets-2, Friend leukemia virus integration 1 (Fli-1), Elf-1, Nerf-2 and erg-1 were shown to participate in the regulation of eNOs, Flt-1/VEGF-R1, Flk-1/VEGF-R2, ICAM-2, Tie1, Tie2, Utrophin-B, VWF and VE-Cadherin (52).

Cis-acting elements that bind to the family of GATA transcription factors participate in basal expression of endothelin-1, eNOS, Flk-1/VEGF-R2, ICAM-2, P-Selectin, PECAM-1, Utrophin-B and VWF (52).

GC-rich regions known as GC boxes are identified and shown to bind to SP1 and SP3, which are zinc-finger transcription factors (61). They participate in regulating the expression of eNOS, Flk-1/VEGF-R2, ICAM-2, and VE-Cadherin genes (52).

Activated Protein 1 (AP-1) site (consensus TGASTCA) is also important in the expression of endothelial specific genes including Endothelin-1, eNOS, Utrophin-B and Notch4 (52).

The arterial endothelial cell specific expression of Notch 4 is regulated by AP-1 (62). Treatment of non-endothelial cells with angiogenic factors was shown to activate AP1 and induce Notch 4 expression (62).

Another commonly expressed transcription factor that has binding sites (sequences ATGCAAAT) in several endothelial specific genes is Octamer transcription factor which is a member of POU protein family. POU is a family of proteins that contain homeodomains which are important in transcription factors that participate in developmental regulation (63).

#### Endothelial cell gene regulation in vivo

Under *in vivo* conditions, endothelial cells demonstrate heterogeneity in structure and function (64). Endothelial cell heterogeneity is also mediated by different local microenvironments. When endothelial cells are removed from their native environment, they undergo major phenotypic transformation (65). Therefore, the results from *in vitro* studies must be confirmed by *in vivo* analyses.

Many studies have explored the function of endothelial cell-specific promoters in transgenic mice. Various promoter fragments of a number of endothelial specific genes were fused to reporter molecules such as LacZ or Luciferase and the expression of the reporter gene was analyzed in various organs in transgenic mice. Most of these investigations have shown that analyzed promoter regions of endothelial specific genes carry information for expression in distinct subsets of endothelial cells or vascular beds

(55;66-71). Although it is established that distinct regions of these genes are necessary for targeting to specific endothelial subset, the mechanism and regulators of this differential expression is not yet known. To gain insight into the regulatory mechanisms that regulates endothelial-specific gene expression we have studied the mechanism of transcriptional regulation of VWF.

#### **Von Willebrand Factor (VWF)**

Von Willebrand Factor is a large adhesive glycoprotein, about 20,000 kDa that is exclusively expressed in endothelial cells and megacaryocytes both *in vivo* and *in vitro*. Therefore, the expression pattern of VWF can be used as a marker to identify endothelial cells from other cell types (72). The VWF gene is located in human chromosome 12 at 12p13.2. It has 52 exons and spans about 180 kb (73).

VWF is necessary for normal haemostases. It mediates the adhesion of platelets to damaged subendothelia and also acts as a carrier and stabilizer for blood clotting factor VIII therefore increasing its half life in the circulation (72).

Deregulation of production of VWF can lead to low or high levels of this protein.

Qualitative and quantitative deficiencies of VWF lead to Von Willebrand disease which is the most common inherited bleeding disorder. Patients who have Von Willebrand disease have severe bleeding disorder since they have defect both in platelet plug formation in the site of injury and in stability and levels of circulating factor VIII (74;75).

High levels of VWF can cause cardiovascular disease and morbidity and increase mortality in general population (76).

As mentioned earlier, VWF is only expressed in two highly specialized cell types, endothelial cells and megakaryocytes. Identification of the important regulatory elements that participate in VWF gene expression will help us to identify the factors that could participate in regulating endothelial-specific gene expression. In addition, determining the mechanism of transcriptional regulation of VWF could provide clues about the molecular nature of diseases that result from deregulated expression of VWF leading to too low or too high VWF levels.

# Characterization of VWF promoter and its regulation in vitro

DNA sequences located at the 5' regions of genes comprise promoters that generally regulate gene transcription. Thus identification and characterization of VWF promoter is fundamental to studying its mechanism of transcription regulation.

To identify the promoter of VWF gene, a number of deletion and mutation analyses were performed. These analyses resulted in identification of a region of the VWF gene spanning sequences -487 to +247 that functions as an endothelial-specific promoter in cell culture (74). A number of cis and trans-acting regulatory factors that positively and negatively regulate the activity of this promoter fragment have since been identified (**Figure 1**).

Trans-acting factors GATA6, Nuclear Transcription Factor Y (NFY) (interacting with the consensus CCAAT sequence at position -18 to -14), a histone H1-like protein (HLP) and Ets function as positive regulators of the VWF promoter. Nuclear factor 1 (NF1), NFY

(binding to a novel sequence CCGNNNCCC at position +226 to +234) and Octamer transcription factor 1 (Oct1) function as negative regulators of the VWF promoter (74;77-82).

NF1 transacting factor interacts with negative regulatory cis-acting element that comprises nucleotide sequences -440 to -470 region of the VWF gene. The NFY interacts with two cis-acting elements; a CCAAT consensus sequence located at -18 to -14, and a novel binding site located at +226 to +234. NFY interacting with the consensus CCAAT element functions as an activator while when interacting with the novel binding site (+226 to +234) it functions as a repressor. The activating and repressive function of NFY is regulated by its interaction with histone modifying cofactors P300/CBP- associated factor (PCAF) and HDAC respectively (77;83;84).

Mutation analyses of NF1 and NFY repressor binding sites demonstrated that suppression of the promoter activity in non-endothelial cells did not change by independently mutating either element. For example mutation of NF1 or NFY had no major effect on the VWF promoter activity in cell culture; however mutation in both repressor sites simultaneously resulted in partial activation of gene expression in nonendothelial cells in culture (85).

# Organ-restricted activity of von Willebrand factor promoter

Endogenous VWF gene expression starts early in vascular development but in a limited subset of endothelial cells (86). This variation in VWF level is also seen in the

vasculature of adult mammals (87). Understanding the molecular mechanisms which causes the diversity of the VWF level can help us understand the molecular mechanisms that program the endothelial cells diversity.

To identify the role of the VWF promoter *in vivo*, the human VWF promoter sequences - 487 to +247 were fused to the Escherichia coli LacZ reporter gene and this construct was used to generate transgenic mice. X-Gal staining analysis of the frozen sections of the transgenic mice demonstrated expression of the VWF-LacZ transgene in almost all embryonic vessels of transgenic mice; however, in adult mice, LacZ expression was restricted to a subset of the brain vasculature (67). These results revealed that the sequences -487 to + 247 of the VWF gene although endothelial specific are not sufficient for the activation in endothelial cells of the vasculature of all organs. DNA sequences distal or proximal to the -487 to+247 regions most likely are required to direct the activation of the promoter in endothelial cells of other organs. These results provided us with an opportunity to investigate the molecular mechanism of the diversity among endothelial cells.

According to these observations, we proposed to determine: i) What are the other regions that are necessary for activation of the VWF gene in other organs; ii) Do the repressors play a role in organ specific activity of the promoter during development. In another word, what represses the activity of the promoter during development.

17

# **Chapter 2: Materials and Methods**

#### Generation of transgenic mice

Transgenic mice and plasmids used for their derivation were generated prior to initiation of my project which was primarily focused on the analyses of the obtained transgenic mice.

Following approach was used to generate two plasmids that contained hypersensitive sequences of intron 51 located either at 5' or 3' relative to VWF promoter driving the expression of LacZ gene. These plasmids were referred to an HSS-VWF-LacZ (intron 51 sequences located at 5') and VWF-lacZ-HSS (intron 51 sequences located at 3').

For generation of HSS-VWF-LacZ transgene the fragment spanning nucleotides 231-613 of Eco RI fragment 38 of the VWF gene (88) was amplified by PCR using 3'-HGH-K plasmid the template, and the following primers: 5' as CCGTCGACGGTACCGAGGGTTGAGCCTCCGTGTT-3' (forward). and 5'GCCGTCGAC GGTCTGACATGTCCTCTTCTCTATGG3' (reverse). The forward primer contains Sal I and Asp 718 enzyme restriction sites followed by intron 51 sequences, while the reverse primer contains the Sal I enzyme restriction site followed by intron 51 sequences. The PCR fragment generated by these primers were digested with Sal I enzyme and cloned upstream of the plasmid VWF LacZ (67) containing a single Sal I site upstream of the VWF promoter. Clones containing the intron 51 sequences in the sense orientation were selected and verified by sequence analysis. The resulting plasmids contained intron 51 sequences 213-613 (wild type or mutant) immediately followed by VWF promoter sequences –487 to +247 and LacZ gene as shown in Figure 6A.

To generate VWF-LacZ-HSS plasmid the fragment 213-613 of intron 51 generated as described above for generation of plasmid HSS-VWF-LacZ, except that the forward primer contained Asp718 site followed by intron 51 sequences, while the reverse primer contained Asp718 followed by Sal I and intron 51 sequences. The resulting PCR fragment was digested with ASP718 and cloned into the Asp 718 site following the poly adenylation signal at 3' end of the LacZ gene in the VWF-LacZ plasmid. Clones containing the intron 51 sequences in the sense orientation were selected and verified by sequence analysis. The resulting plasmid contained VWF promoter sequences -487 to +247 followed by LacZ gene and poly A signal and VWF intron 51 sequences 213-613. Plasmid LacZK <sup>NF1</sup>, containing 3 bp substitution mutations in the NF1 binding site was generated by replacing the Hind III fragment of LacZK that spans sequences -487 to -90 sequences of the VWF, with the similar Hind III fragment from plasmid HGHK<sup>rm3</sup> (39) which also spans VWF sequences -487 to -90, but contains the desired mutation in NF1 binding site.

Plasmids LacZK <sup>NFY</sup> and LacZK<sup>NF1-NFY</sup> were generated as follows: The VWF promoter fragment -90 to +247 was amplified using primers that corresponded to sequences -90 to -60 (with an additional 9 bp sequence containing the Hind III site); and +213 to +247 with base substitution mutations at +226 to +228 (CCG to GAA) as well as an additional 9 bp sequence containing the Pst I site. The plasmid LacZK was digested with Hind III and Pst I and sequences corresponding to VWF fragment -487 to + 247 were removed. The PCR generated VWF sequences -90 to +247 containing the mutation in NFY binding site were then ligated to the Hind III/Pst I digested LacZK fragment. This resulted in

generation of a plasmid containing VWF sequences -90 to +247 with mutation in NFY binding site. This plasmid was then linearized with Hind III, followed by insertion of Hind III fragments containing either wild type VWF sequences -487 to -90 (obtained from LacZK) to generate plasmid LacZK<sup>NFY</sup>, or NF1 mutant VWF sequences -487 to -90 (obtained from LacZK<sup>NF1</sup>) to generate plasmid LacZK<sup>NF1-NFY</sup>. Sequences of all plasmids were confirmed.

DNA fragments containing HSS sequences, VWF-LacZ and poly A were isolated and purified from the plasmids HSS-VWF-LacZ and VWF-LacZ-HSS by digestion with ASP718 (for plasmid HSS-VWF-LacZ) or Sal I (for plasmid VWF-LacZ-HSS). Fragments were used for microinjection to generate C57BL/6 transgenic mice by Ozgene (Bentley, WA, Australia) and University of Alberta transgenic mice facility respectively. In addition DNA fragment containing VWF-LacZ transgene was used to generate transgenic mice containing VWF-LacZ gene in C57BL/6 mice by Ozgene (Bentley, WA, Australia). DNA fragments containing VWF-LacZ and poly A were isolated from plasmids LacZK, LacZK<sup>NF1</sup>, LacZK<sup>NF1</sup>, LacZK<sup>NF1</sup> and LacZK<sup>NF1-NFY</sup> were generated by Sal I digestions of these plasmids, purified and used for microinjection to generate C57BL/6 transgenic mice by Ozgene (Bentley, WA, Australia).

The founder transgenic mice were bred with wild type C57BL/6 to generate heterozygote transgenic progenies. Presence of the transgene was determined using specific primers to detect LacZ gene from mouse tail biopsies prepared by the staff of animal facility Health Science Laboratory Animal Services (HSLAS) at University of Alberta. All animal housing and experimentation were approved by the Health Sciences Animal Policy and Welfare Committee at the University of Alberta. Two-three independent lines of heterozygote transgenic mice were analyzed for LacZ expression

#### **Organ preparation**

- 1) Mice were placed in dorsal position on the narcolepsy table.
- 2) The skin along the midline from the mandible to the pubic symphysis was cut.
- Skin was flipped laterally on each side of the incision to expose the underlying tissues and organs.
- The ribs were cut near their cartilage and flipped to each side of the thoracic wall laterally to expose the thoracic organs.
- 5) Six organs including brain, heart, lung, liver, intestine and kidney of euthanized mice were removed and trimmed to the appropriate size. Samples from each organ were frozen in liquid Nitrogen for RNA analyses and were processed for immunohistochemistry and immunofluorescence confocal microscopy as described below.

# **RNA** preparation and real-time polymerase chain reaction (PCR) analyses

- RNA was prepared from frozen organs (heart, lung, liver kidney and brain) using Qiagen RNeasy Mini Kit Cat. # 74104 as recommended by manufacturer.
- 1 microgram of RNA was used to generate cDNA using Invitrogen SuperScript® Reverse Transcriptase (Carlsbad, CA, Cat. # 12371-019) as recommended by manufacturer.
- 3) The cDNA was diluted (1:50) and 10 micro liters was used as template for Real-time PCR analyses using power SYBR PCR Master Mix (Cat. # 4367659 Biosystems, Foster Green CA). The PCR reactions were carried out in a total volume of 25

microlitre using 0.25 microlitre of each primer (stock concentration 10 picomol/microlitre). Cycling conditions used were as follows:

- 50°C 2 minutes
- 95°C 10 minutes
- 95°C 15 seconds
- $60^{\circ}$ C 1 minute
- 4) Number of cycles ran were 40 and dissociation curve were run on all samples.
- 5) Tie 2, VWF and LacZ were normalized to GAPDH by generating an arbitrary standard curve generated from cycle threshold (Ct) values of GAPDH

#### Preparation of tissues for immunohistochemical analyses

Tissues were formalin fixed and paraffin embedded as follows (89;90):

- Each specimen was put in a cassette with its paper label specimen number which was written with 4B pencil.
- 2) Cassettes were placed in 10% formalin for temporary rinse.
- 3) Formalin was discarded and cassettes were drained well.
- Cassettes were processed in 70% Ethanol for 90 minutes on shaker (sudden transfer of tissues in higher concentration of ethanol may cause distortion of tissues).
- 5) Then cassettes were sequentially processed in 85% Ethanol for 90 minutes, 95% Ethanol for 90 minutes, 70% Butanol for 24 hours and 85% Butanol for 24 hours. All incubations were carried out on shaker.
- Cassettes were placed either in absolute Butanol for long term storage or continued for paraffin wax impregnation.
- Cassettes were immersed in paraffin wax under vacuum, in a heated chamber at 52 degree Celsius for five hours.

- 8) Tissues were removed from the cassettes and placed in tissue molds of the appropriate size, which was then filled with molten wax from the wax dispenser.
- 9) Tissue molds were placed on the refrigerated cold plate to harden the wax.
- Tissue blocks were cut in 5 micron in thickness and transferred onto microscope slides (Fisherbrand Colorfrost/Plus Catalogue No: 12-550-17), air dried in room temperature for one hour and placed in 37 degree oven overnight.

#### Immunohistochemistry staining

- 1) Sections were de-paraffinized and rehydrated as follows:
  - a. 30 minutes in 58 degree oven.
  - b. 2x5 minutes in Xylene (Fisher Scientific Catalogue No. 180860010)
  - c. 2x5 minutes in 100% Ethanol
  - d. 1x5 minutes in deionized water
- Slides were placed in 1x wash buffer (Dakocytomation Catalogue No: S3006) for 30 minutes.
- 3) Slides were transferred into humidifier chamber.
- Slides were removed from the wash buffer. Around the specimens were wiped by Kimwipe to remove any remaining liquid.
- 5) Sections were bordered with PAP Pen.
- Slides were covered with 3% Peroxidase block (Fisher Scientific Catalogue No. H324-500) for 10 minutes.
- 7) Slides were rinsed gently with 1x wash buffer.
- Slides were incubated for 10 minutes in Protein Block (Dakocytomation Catalogue No. X0909).
- 9) Slides were shaken in the air to remove the Protein block without rinsing.

- 10) Primary Antibody (monoclonal to beta-galactosidase from abcam Catalogue No. ab 116-100) was diluted 1:500 with antibody diluent (DakoCytomation Catalogue No. S0809).
- 11) Negative Control mouse IgG1 (DakoCytomation Catalogue No. X0931) was diluted in antibody diluent (DakoCytomation Catalogue No. S0809).
- Each specimen together with a positive control and a negative control were incubated in 200µL diluted primary and an isotype control antibody for 2 hours.
- 13) Slides were washed extensively by 1x wash buffer.
- 14) Envision+ R system/ Labelled polymer-HRP Anti mouse (DakoCytomation Catalogue No. K4000) was applied to cover the entire specimen for 30±1 minutes.
- 15) Slides were rinsed extensively with 1x wash buffer.
- 16) Slides were gently shaken in the air to remove the layer of wash buffer.
- SIGMA FAST DAB (3,3'-Diaminobenzidine) tablet (Catalogue No.D-4293) was dissolved in 5 ml Dionized water by vortexing.
- 18) Slides were covered with  $300\mu$ L of the solution.
- 19) Slides were carefully monitored and washed extensively with 1x wash buffer as soon as the color of the positive control slide turned brown (this step took about 30 seconds).
- 20) Slides were placed in tap water for 1 hour.
- 21) Slides were incubated in methyl green (DakoCytomation S1962) for 20 minutes.
- 22) Slides were washed in running tap water to remove excessive green-blue color.
- 23) Slides were placed in the following solutions:
  - a. Three minutes in 95% Ethanol
  - b. Three minutes Xylene
- Slides were coversliped (Fisher Scientific Catalogue No.12-541B) with cytoseal (Fisher Scientific Catalogue No. 8310-16) and air- dried overnight.

#### **Immunoflourescent staining**

- 1) Tissues were retrieved from mice and washed with PBS.
- 2) Tissues were cut into cubes of approximately 3 mm.
- 3) Tissues were then soaked in 30% sucrose in water overnight at 4C.
- 4) After sucrose tissues were washed in PBS three times and then placed into OCT.
- 5) Tissues were frozen over liquid nitrogen and then stored at -80C until sectioning.
- Cryosections were made on a Leica (Wetzlar, Germany CM 3050S) cryostat at 5 mm slices.
- Sections were placed on Fisher Colorfrost positively charged slides (Catalogue No. 12-550-17)
- 8) Sections were fixed in cold acetone for 10 minutes and then dried overnight at 4C.
- Sections were then washed in buffer (PBS+0.05% Triton X-100) three times, five minutes at room temperature.
- 10) Sections were blocked with buffer plus 3% donkey serum for 1 hour at room temperature.
- 11) Primary antibody was added at the dilution of 1:100 and allowed to incubate overnight at4C in humidified chamber.
- 12) Slides were then washed three times, five minutes in buffer.
- 13) Secondary antibody, Molecular Probes (Carlsbad, CA) Alexafluor 488 nm or 594 nm, at1:2000 dilution was added for 1 hour at room temperature in the dark.
- 14) Slides were washed three times, five minutes in buffer at room temperature with occasional agitation.
- Slides were allowed to dry and mounted with 20 micro litre Prolong Antifade Gold from Molecular Probes.
- 16) Slides were observed on a Zeiss LSM510 confocal microscope.
- 17) Antibodies used were as follows:

Primary antibodies:

- Rabbit anti-beta galactosidase (Catalogue No. G1041-41 US Biological)
- Rat anti mouse cd31 PECAM (clone 390; Pharmingen, San Diego, CA)
- Polyclonal rabbit antibodies specifically detecting NF1A (Catalogue No. ARP32714-P050 Aviva System Biology, San Diego, CA), NF1B (Catalogue No. ARP32716-T100 Aviva System Biology, San Diego, CA), NF1C (Catalogue No. P100810-100 Aviva System Biology, San Diego), NF1X (Catalogue No. ARP32717-P050 Aviva System Biology, San Diego)
- Goat polyclonal anti-mouse PECAM antibody (Catalogue No. sc-1506 Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc., Santa Cruz, CA).

Secondary antibodies:

- Goat anti-rabbit Alexa 488 and 594 (Molecular Probes)
- Goat anti-rat cy3 ( Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories, West Grove, PA)

# **Chapter 3: Results**

#### Background

Related work carried out in the lab prior to initiation of my project.

VWF promoter sequences -487 to +247 functions as an endothelial-specific promoter in cell culture (Figure 1). However, in adult transgenic mice, this VWF promoter fragment is activated only in the brain vascular endothelial cells, while endogenous VWF gene is expressed in vasculature of all major organs. To identify additional regions of the VWF gene that may participate in its regulation, DNase I hypersensitive assay was used. Considering that DNA regulatory elements are usually positioned in open chromatin structures that are more accessible to DNase I digestion, this approach provides a tool to scan large genomic regions for presence of potential cis-acting elements. Since the analysis of 5' region of the VWF gene revealed limited pattern of promoter activity in vivo, the 3' region of the gene was investigated for the presence of regulatory element(s). These analyses that were previously performed in our lab had led to identification of a DNase I hypersensitive site in intron 51 region of the VWF gene. These hypersensitive sequences were shown to contain a functional binding site for transcription factor YY1 (Figure2) (91). A 380 bp fragment encompassing this DNase I hypersensitive region (referred to as HSS-I51) was subsequently cloned upstream of the homologous VWF promoter (sequences -487 to +247) or a heterologous SV40 promoter fused to a reporter gene. The activity of the resulting plasmids were determined in endothelial and nonendothelial cells. The results demonstrated that the hypersensitive sequences activated the
heterologous SV40 promoter in endothelial cells however, no significant effect was observed on homologous VWF promoter (91). Based on these results we hypothesized that the intron 51 sequences may have an endothelial-specific enhancing activity but this effect may only be demonstrated on a promoter that is not active by itself in endothelial cells. We hypothesized that since VWF promoter (sequences –487 to +247) is active in endothelial cells in culture the effect of the enhancer on the homologous VWF promoter in cell culture may be obscured. Based on this reasoning we hypothesized that these sequences may extend the activation pattern of the VWF promoter *in vivo*. Thus, presence of the HSS-I51 may result in promoter activation in endothelial cells of other organs in addition to brain in transgenic mice.

The second part of our studies was based on the observation that while the activity of the VWF promoter fragment in adult transgenic mice was restricted to a subset of brain vascular endothelial cells, almost all embryonic vascular endothelial cells supported the activity of the promoter. This observation led to design the hypothesis that in the absence of additional VWF DNA sequences, the promoter activity of sequences -487 to +247 is repressed during development from embryonic to adult tissues in all organs except brain.

In the first part of this study we tested the above hypothesis as described below.

#### Role of intron 51 HSS in VWF promoter activity in vivo

To determine whether the 380 bp DNA region (HSS-I51) that encompasses the DNase I hypersensitive participates in regulation of VWF transcription *in vivo*, transgenic mice were generated harboring a LacZ transgene driven by the VWF promoter (sequences –

487 to +247) and the I51-HSS sequences [spanning nucleotides 38/231 to 38/613] positioned either upstream of the VWF promoter or downstream of the LacZ gene (transgenes HSS-VWF-LacZ and VWF-LacZ-HSS) previously in the lab as described in Materials and Methods. The resulting plasmids were used by Ozgene Company (Australia) and University of Alberta Transgenic Facility to generate 2-3 transgenic founder lines for each transgene in C57BL/6 mice strain. As control we also regenerated transgenic mice containing the VWF promoter (sequences -487 to +247) fused to LacZ gene (designated VWF-LacZ). Transgenic founders were maintained and bred with wild type C57BL/6 by HSLAS facility at the University of Alberta to generate hereozygous F1. Transgenic progenies were identified by PCR analyses of DNA from mice tails biopsies (carried out by HSLAS staff) to detect the presence of LacZ transgene. We analyzed 2-3 independent lines of each transgenic mouse containing the HSS-51 (HSS-VWF-LacZ and VWF-LacZ-HSS) and one line of the VWF-LacZ, using immunohistochemistry and immunofluorescence to detect LacZ gene products in various organs. We analyzed one founder line, and at least two F1 generations of each line, for each transgene. Organs from transgenic and non-transgenic littermates were harvested and fixed in formalin or cryoperserved in 30% sucrose. Tissue arrays were prepared (by Histobest Company, Edmonton, Alberta) from formalin treated organs and subjected to immunohistochemistry with anti- $\beta$ -galactosidase specific antibody. The use of tissue arrays in which sections of various organs were placed on a single slide allows for samples to be simultaneously processed under a similar condition, thus minimizing interexperimental staining variability.

Positive immunoperoxidase staining for  $\beta$ -galactosidase was shown almost exclusively in the vasculatures of lung and brain (Figure 3) for both HSS-VWF-LacZ and VWF-LacZ-HSS. In the lung, vessels of the alveolar walls, especially in the parenchyma near the pleura, were most commonly positive. Specific staining of the endothelial cells of lung and brain tissues of the transgenic lines with control IgG antibody, and non-transgenic littermates with the anti- $\beta$ -galactosidase antibody was not observed (Figure 4). Also consistent with our previous report, there was no LacZ detection in the lung of transgenic mice (VWF-LacZ) that contained VWF promoter (-487 to +247) in the absence of the HSS-I51 sequences while expression was observed in the brain vasculature of these animals (Figure 4).

To determine the cellular origin of the LacZ expression in the lung vasculature, immunofluorescent analysis was performed on OCT frozen organs harvested from one line of VWF-LacZ-HSS using specific antibodies to detect LacZ gene product (shown as green) and PECAM (shown as red, a marker for endothelial cells) and slides were subjected to confocal fluorescence microscopy. Overlapping windows (yellow) demonstrated co-localization of both PECAM and  $\beta$ –galactosidase in brain and lung endothelial cells (Figure 5). Similarly LacZ expression was not detected in endothelial cells of other organs tested. Some  $\beta$ –galactosidase staining was observed in colon (non-endothelial cells) of one line of HSS-VWF-LacZ and kidney (non-endothelial cells) of one line of VWF-LacZ-HSS. These were attributed to ectopic expression, possibly due to transgene integration site, since these were not observed in more than one transgenic line each. There was no other detection of  $\beta$ –galactosidase in endothelial or non-endothelial cells of other organs tested. Also there was no expression detected in the megakaryocytes.(91)

The results demonstrated that LacZ transgene was expressed only in the brain and lung vasculatures of these mice and that the expression was restricted to endothelial cells of these organs. Since the VWF promoter sequence -487 to +247 was previously shown to target activation in brain vascular endothelial cells, these results demonstrate that the

lung-endothelial-specific activation of the chimeric promoter, containing I51-HSS sequences and sequences -487 to +247, is due to the regulatory function of the I51-HSS sequences. These results supports the hypothesis that additional regions of VWF gene in combination with sequences -487 to +247 are required to extended the transcriptional activation of the VWF promoter to endothelial cells of multiple organs. Specifically a regulatory region in intron 51 is necessary for activation in lung endothelial cell.

These results were published in: "Kleinschmidt AM, Nassiri M, Stitt MS, Wasserloos K, Watkins SC, Pitt BR, et al. Sequences in intron 51 of the von Willebrand factor gene target promoter activation to a subset of lung endothelial cells in transgenic mice. J BIOL CHEM 2008 Feb 1;283(5):2741-50".

To test the second part of our hypothesis we explored whether repressor elements that constituted the binding sites for NF1 and NFY participate in organ-specific regulation of the VWF promoter as described below.

#### Role of NF1 and NFY in VWF promoter activity in vivo

To determine whether repressors NF1 and NFY participate in organ-restricted activity of the VWF promoter *in vivo*, we generated transgenic mice harboring LacZ gene under the regulation of the VWF promoters containing mutations in either NF1 binding site [designated LacZK<sup>NF1</sup> (Figure 6B)], NFY binding site [designated LacZK<sup>NFY</sup> (Figure 6C)] or both [designated LacZK<sup>NF1-NFY</sup> (Figure 6D)]. We also used the VWF-LacZ transgenic mice (here designated LacZK) containing the wild type VWF promoter that was described above (Figure 6A). The VWF promoter in all transgenes constituted the VWF gene sequences -487 to +247 and the mutations consisted of the three base substitutions that were previously used to explore the functions of NF1 and NFY repressors binding sites *in vitro* (77;78;81). We obtained two-three independent lines of mice carrying each transgene. Major organs were harvested from transgenic mice LacZK (one line), LacZK<sup>NF1</sup> (three independent lines), LacZK<sup>NFY</sup> and LacZK<sup>NF1-NFY</sup> (two independent lines each) and subjected to RNA analyses using quantitative real-time PCR (RT-PCR) to detect LacZ mRNA, and immunohistochemistry to detect LacZ protein product. We also performed analyses of Tie2 and VWF endogenous mRNA in all organs of the 8 transgenic mice to determine the pattern of endogenous VWF expression and whether it strictly correlates with the level of vascularization. These analyses (presented as averages of 8 mice for each organ) demonstrated that Tie2 expression was highest in the lung followed by kidney, heart, brain and liver. The highest level of VWF expression was detected in the lung followed by heart, brain, liver and kidney (Figure 7A).

#### (i) RNA analyses of LacZ transgene in transgenic mice

The RNA analyses of the LacZK (containing the wild type promoter) transgenic mouse performed as described in Materials and Methods demonstrated that LacZ mRNA was detected in the brain but also in kidney (Figure 7B). The expression in the kidney appears to be the result of ectopic expression in this specific line since immunohistochemistry analysis demonstrated LacZ expression only in tubular cells in a limited region of kidney. This ectopic expression was not observed in any other previously analysed lines of LacZK. In contrast to LacZK transgenic mouse, in three lines of LacZK<sup>NF1</sup>, the highest level of LacZ mRNA was detectable in the lung, followed by the heart and to a lesser degree in the liver and in the brain. Although the level of expression was variable among

the three lines (potentially reflecting transgene variation in integration site and copy number), the pattern of expression was similar (Figure 8). RNA analyses of the two lines of LacZK<sup>NFY</sup> demonstrated the expression of LacZ mRNA in the kidneys and hearts of transgenic lines as well as brain. In one line expression in liver and lung was also detected (Figure 9A). Results of RNA analyses of the organs from two lines of double mutant LacZK<sup>NF1-NFY</sup> demonstrated the expression of LacZ mRNA in all five organs tested (Figure 9B).

Together these results suggest that in contrast to the wild type VWF promoter that is activated only in brain, mutation of the repressor elements in the promoter results in promoter activation in other organs. In addition the pattern of activation appears to differ depending on the mutation, with activation in kidney observed in NFY mutant but not in NF1 mutant promoter.

# (ii) Immunohistochemical detection of LacZ protein expression in transgenic mice

To determine pattern of LacZ expression at the protein levels, tissue arrays were prepared from formalin treated organs and subjected to immunohistochemistry with anti- $\beta$ -galactosidase specific antibody. In these analyses sections of various organs were placed on a single slide thus allowing multiple tissue samples to be simultaneously processed under similar conditions and hence minimizing inter-experimental staining variability. The immunohistochemistry analyses demonstrated that consistent with previous reports (67;92), LacZ expression was detected in the brain vasculature but not heart, lung or liver of the transgenic mouse LacZK (Figure 10 panel LacZK). In the kidney, expression in all vasculature was undetectable. In contrast, analyses of LacZK<sup>NF1</sup> transgenic mice demonstrated significant LacZ expression in the vasculature of lung and heart, in addition to the brain. Similar results were obtained for all three lines and results for one line is shown (Figure 10 panel LacZK<sup>NF1</sup>). Analyses of LacZK<sup>NFY</sup> transgenic mice (shown for one line) demonstrated that expression of LacZ was detected in the brain and kidney vasculature in both lines (Figure 10 panel LacZK<sup>NFY</sup>). In one line some expression in heart and lung vasculature was also detected but the levels were significantly less than that observed in hearts and lungs of LacK<sup>NF1</sup>. Analysis of LacZK<sup>NF1-NFY</sup> transgenic mice demonstrated that LacZ expression was detected in the vasculature of brain, heart, lung, kidney and liver in both lines (Figure 10 panel LacZK<sup>NF1-NFY</sup>). Thus, combined mutation of both NF1 and NFY repressors binding sites results in an expression pattern that constitutes an overlap of expression patterns observed with individual mutations. In addition, expression was detected in the livers of double mutant transgenic mice, which was not observed with either of the individual mutants, suggesting a synergistic effect of the mutations in both NF1 and NFY repressor.

#### Determining the pattern of NF1 isoforms

The results of the mutation analyses described above demonstrated that the NF1-binding site mutation specifically activates VWF promoter in the lung and heart vasculature but not kidney, and that mutation of NFY binding site is required to activate the promoter in the kidney. These results strongly suggest that NF1 transacting factor specifically represses VWF promoter in the lung and heart but not kidney vasculature. There are four known NF1 isoforms designated as A, B, C and X. Thus, we explored whether endothelial cells of lung, heart and kidney, as well as those of brain exhibit differences in

expression pattern of specific NF1 isoforms. Since endothelial cells that are grown in culture lose their organ-specific characteristics and any differences observed in cultured cells may not accurately reflect *in vivo* differences we chose to perform immunoflourescence/confocal microscopy analyses of mouse organ sections using antibodies to detect specific NF1 isoforms and PECAM as a marker for endothelial cells in various organs.

For these analyses OCT frozen sections of organs (arranged in an array) were subjected to immunoflourescence analyses using anti-PECAM antibody (conjugated to green fluorescent dye) to identify endothelial cells in combination with antibodies (conjugated to red fluorescent dye) that specifically detect either A, B, C or X isoforms of NF1 as described in Materials and Methods. DAPI staining was used to detect nuclei and determine the presence or absence of NF1 in the nuclei. The results of these analyses shown in Figure 11 demonstrated that there were significant variations in the expression of specific NF1 isoforms that were detected in the nuclei of endothelial cells in the four organs studied. In the brain, expression of NFIC and NFIX were clearly detected in the nuclei of endothelial cells while NFIA and NFIB were barely detected. In the endothelial cells of the heart predominantly NFIB followed by NFIA were detected while NFIX and NFIC were undetectable. In the lung endothelial cells, the most significant NFI isoform detected was NFIB while NFIA, C or X were not detectable. In the kidney endothelial cells, NFIX was predominantly detected with significantly lower levels of NFIC and no NFIB or A. These results demonstrate that in lung, heart and kidney, the endothelial cells express distinct non-overlapping isoforms of NF1. Specifically, NFIX is the major isoform expressed in the kidney and NFIB is the major isoform expressed in the lung and heart. Based on the observations that mutation of NF1 binding site activates the VWF promoter in lung and heart but not kidney we hypothesize that the B isoform of NF1 but not X may function as a repressor of VWF promoter. These results however do not exclude the possibility that C and A isoform may also function as repressors of VWF. These results are submitted for publication in a manuscript entitled: "Repressors NF1 and NFY participate in organ specific regulation of VWF promoter activity in transgenic mice".

# **Chapter 4: Discussion**

Under *in vivo* conditions, endothelial cells display marked heterogeneity in structure and function. Local microenvironment is a major participating factor in establishment endothelial cell heterogeneity, to an extent that when they are removed from their native environment and grown in culture, endothelial cells undergo phenotypic drift and lose many of their organ specific characteristics (2;19).

*In vitro* analyses of the VWF promoter have provided information with regard to identification of cis-acting elements and trans-acting factors that interact with the VWF promoter, and their role in endothelial-cell type specific regulation of this promoter (77;78;81;82;93). To date, almost all of the trans-acting factors and their cognate binding sites that are characterized as VWF transcriptional regulators, are localized to VWF promoter sequences -487 to +247. Although these sequences function as endothelial-specific promoter *in vitro* (74), *in vivo* analyses demonstrated that the activity of the -487 to +247 VWF promoter is restricted to a subset of brain vascular endothelial cells in transgenic mice, while in embryonic vessels near uniform activity in almost all vasculature was observed (67). In addition, endogenous VWF gene is expressed in endothelial cells of almost all organs, although at variable levels and not uniformly in all vessels of each organ. Together, these observations suggested that additional regions of the VWF gene (outside sequences–487 to +247) are required to obtain activation in endothelial cells of other organs in addition to brain. This is supported by the report that extension of this VWF region to include additional 5' and 3' sequences (-2182 to the end

of the first intron) resulted in promoter activation in endothelial cells of heart and smooth muscle cells as well as brain (67;94).

Previous reports have demonstrated that DNA regulatory elements are located in introns and 3' regions of some genes, as well as the 5' proximal and distal sequences to the transcription initiation site. Endothelial- specific enhancer for several genes including Tie-2, flk1 and GATA2 were identified down stream of transcription initiation site, ranging in location from 3' region of intron 1 to intron 4 (66;95).

Since the analysis of the 5' region of the VWF gene showed limited pattern of promoter activity *in vivo*, we explored whether potential regulatory elements could be located at the 3' region of the gene. DNase I hypersensitive assay was used and a DNase I hypersensitive site in intron 51 region was identified. Analysis of this region showed that a YY1 transcription factor interacts with this region (91). Thus we hypothesized that I51-HSS sequences may participate in activation of VWF promoter *in vivo* in endothelial cell types where sequences -487 to +247 alone are not sufficient for promoter activity.

To test this hypothesis we generated transgenic mice containing the intron 51 DNase I hypersenstive site (I51-HSS) sequences placed either upstream or downstream of the VWF promoter sequences -487 to +247 (HSS-VWF-LacZ and VWF-LacZ-HSS) that regulated the expression of the LacZ transgene.

Since generation of a transgene that mimicked endogenous VWF gene with regard to the position of HSS-I51 relative to the promoter was not feasible, we chose to place these sequences upstream of the VWF promoter (HSS-VWF-LacZ) for one set of analysis. Alternatively since I51-HSS is located at the 3' region of the VWF gene and its location with regard to being positioned downstream vs. upstream of transcription initiation site

may influence its function we also generated transgene that contained I51-HSS positioned downstream of the VWF promoter (VWF-LacZ-HSS) for another set of analysis.

Analysis of the transgenic mice demonstrated that independent of positioning; I51-HSS sequences activated the VWF promoter in a subset of lung endothelial cells as well as brain microvascular endothelial cells as was expected from the activity of the VWF promoter sequences -487 to +247. The expression pattern of the LacZ transgenes in lungs of these transgenic mice was heterogeneous and in large part was restricted to a subset of endothelial cells in the parenchyma near the pleura. This likely reflects the requirement for additional VWF gene sequences to mimic endogenous VWF expression pattern. It may also partly reflect the heterogenous nature of endogenous VWF gene expression in lung. Reports of endogenous VWF gene expression in human and mouse have demonstrated that VWF expression in lung is not uniformly observed in all endothelial cells (22;96). However, in vivo analyses of the VWF promoter sequences -487 to +247 demonstrated non-uniform activation pattern in the brain vasculature, with a subset of endothelial cells expressing the fused LacZ gene. Thus, suggesting the distinct region of the VWF gene identified to date may contain minimal necessary elements for transcriptional activation in vasculature of specific organs, but additional sequences may also contribute to expression in a broader range of endothelial cells in vasculature of these organs. The narrow range of activation by I51HSS that is specific to the lung, suggests that elements that are necessary for VWF promoter activation in vasculature of all organs are not clustered together and that sequences for activation in various organs may be scattered throughout the VWF gene. This hypothesis is consistent with the observation that the additional 5' and intron 1 sequences also resulted in activation only in two additional organs, heart and muscle. Alternatively, the narrow specificity may reflect detection of partial function of these sequences when studied out of their natural context.

The I51HSS sequences in their native position in relation to the promoter could have additional function that may not have been detected by these analyses.

Based on the observation that -487 to +247 sequences are active in embryonic vessels but not in adult organs except brain, we hypothesized that in transition from embryo to adult, the activity of this VWF promoter fragment (in the absence of additional DNA sequences) was repressed in the vasculature of all organs except brain and that one or more of the trans-acting factors which were identified as repressors of the VWF promoter may participate in this process. We tested this hypothesis by determining the *in vivo* activation pattern of the VWF promoter sequences -487 to +247 containing mutations (individually and in combination) in two repressor cis-acting elements, namely NF1 and a novel NFY binding site. Our analyses demonstrated that while the wild type promoter is activated exclusively in brain vascular endothelial cells, mutation in NF1 binding site resulted in promoter activation in lung and heart vasculature; mutation in the novel NFY binding site resulted in promoter activation in kidney vasculature; and double mutations in both NF1 and NFY binding sites resulted in promoter activation in lung, heart, kidney and liver, as well as brain vasculature. These results demonstrated that the NF1 and NFY repressors participate in the mechanism that regulate organ-specific activation pattern of the VWF promoter sequences -487 to +247 in vivo and is consistent with our hypothesis that repressors inhibit VWF promoter activity during development from embryonic to adult state. These results suggest that NF1 participates in VWF promoter repression specifically in lung and heart, while NFY participates in its repression in kidney vasculature. Both NF1 and NFY appear to participate in repression in the liver, since only a double mutation resulted in promoter activation in these organs. In addition to their participation in organ-specific pattern of VWF promoter activity, repressors NF1 and NFY may also quantitatively regulate the level of VWF promoter activity. However, this

cannot be determined by analyses of standard transgenic mice since various transgenic mice, even distinct lines generated for each transgene may express the transgenes at different copy numbers and they may be incorporated in varying integration sites. This may contribute more significantly to a quantitative level of expression compared to qualitative (i.e. pattern demonstrating absence or presence in specific organ vasculature) thus rendering a comparative quantitative analyses at best ambiguous. Similar expression pattern obtained in two to three lines of each transgenic mouse (regardless of quantitative level) however is a strong evidence of qualitative effects of mutations on the promoter activity. Future analyses using HPRT-targeted transgenic mice will be the best indication of any quantitative effects of these mutations.

The two repressors elements that we have studied NFY and NF1 were shown to function as both repressor and activator of transcription depending on the binding sequence, gene and/or cell type. To our knowledge a repressive function for NFY specifically in endothelial cells has only been reported with respect to VWF promoter. However, a repressive function for NF1 with regard to regulation of tPA gene (an endothelial-specific gene) promoter was previously reported (97). A specific DNA-NF1 complex with NF1 binding sequence of tPA promoter was demonstrated only when extracts from lung and brain were used. Such NF1-DNA complexes were not detected in extracts prepared from kidney or liver in these studies (97). It was hypothesized that NF1 repression of tPA occurs differentially in endothelial cells of different organs, specifically in lung and brain but not in kidney and liver. Our analysis of the NF1 mutation in the VWF promoter also suggests that NF1 repression of the VWF promoter occurs in lung and heart but not kidney or liver, although repression in liver may require combined action of NFY and NF1. Four distinct NF1 genes and numerous splice variants of these four genes (NF1A, NF1B, NF1C and NF1X) in murine, human and other vertebrates are detected (98). Various NF1 gene products have distinct but overlapping patterns of expression in different organs and tissues and are differentially expressed during development (98). The exact NF1 isoform that interacts with the VWF or tPA is not yet determined, so it may be that an endothelial-organ-specific form of NF1 is present in brain, lung and heart (functioning as repressor of some endothelial-specific genes such as VWF and tPA) that is not present in kidney and possibly liver.

Based on the observations that extended VWF promoter (VWF2 spanning -2182 to the end of the first intron) results in promoter activation in the heart (94); and that addition of intron 51 sequences results in promoter activation in lung (91), we hypothesize that activators (not yet identified) that interact with VWF2 sequences (outside -487 to +247 region) in heart; and activators that interact with intron 51 sequences in the lung, overcome the repressor function of NF1 specifically in these organs. We further hypothesize that as yet other uncharacterized regions of the VWF gene are required to overcome inhibitory function of NFY in the kidney, and both NF1 and NFY in liver, and potentially other organs. Other identified repressors in the VWF promoter sequences – 487 to +247 are Oct1 (79) and EBP4 (93) which were shown to participate in cell type specific regulation of the VWF promoter in cell culture analyses, however their *in vivo* function in transgenic mice are not yet determined. A module describing our hypothesis of de-repressor leading to promoter activation in distinct organs is shown in figure 12.

The activation of the wild type VWF promoter sequences -487 to +247 in the brain vasculature may suggest that either NF1 and/or NFY do not function as repressors of the VWF in the brain, or that the -487 to +247 sequences contain regulatory elements that overcome the inhibitory function of these repressors specifically in the brain. We hypothesize that VWF gene activation may involve a mechanism of "de-repression", where regulators interacting with distinct regions of VWF gene function to overcome the

inhibitory effects of repressors NF1 and NFY and that the activities of such regulators may be modulated differentially in distinct organs.

# Figures

### Figure 1.

Proximal VWF promoter schematically presented with positive (green) and negative (red) transacting factors. T and C represent TATA and CCAAT elements respectively. +1 represents transcription start site at the beginning of exon 1. Endothelial-specific region represents the sequences that are necessary for the enndothelial-specific activation of the promoter in cell culture.



### Figure 2.

VWF gene and the position of identified DNase I hypersensitive site relative is shown. Exons 51 and 52 are shown in the enlarged section and the unfilled region of the rectangle depicting exon 52 represents 3' untranslated region. The 5' untranslated region containing part of the VWF proximal promoter (sequences 1 to +247) is shown in blue.



#### Figure 3.

Hypersensitive region of the VWF gene intron 51 when placed upstream of the VWF promoter targets the promoter activity to the lung vasculature in transgenic mice. (A) Schematic representation of the transgenes containing the VWF promoter and LacZ gene (VWF-LacZ), VWF-LacZ with intron 51 HSS sequences (fragment spanning nucleotides 231-613 of Eco RI fragment 38 of the VWF gene) located upstream of VWF promoter (HSS-VWF-LacZ), and VWF-LacZ with intron 51 HSS sequences located downstream of LacZ gene (VWF-LacZ-HSS). Sequences containing polyadenylation signal are represented as pA (B) Sections from indicated organs of an adult F1 generation of one transgenic line of HSS-VWF-LacZ were immunostained with the antibody specific to LacZ. The arrows show representative vessels expressing LacZ (magnification 400X).



### Figure 4.

Hypersensitive region of the VWF gene intron 51 when placed downstream of the VWF promoter also targets the promoter activity to the lung vasculature in transgenic mice. Sections from lung and brain of the transgenic mice (F1 generations) HSS-VWF-LacZ (A), VWF-LacZ-HSS (B), VWF-LacZ (C) and a non-transgenic littermate (E) were immunostained with an antibody specific to LacZ. The lung and brain sections of HSS-VWF-LacZ transgenic mouse were also immunostained with an isotype matched IgG antibody used as negative control (D). The arrows show representative vessels expressing LacZ (magnification 600X).



### Figure 5.

Confocal microscopy analysis of LacZ and PECAM (Red) showing overlapping LacZ and PCAM expression in brain and lung endothelial cells of a VWF-LacZ-HSS transgenic mouse line 1132.



Antibodies: β-gal (green) and PECAM(red)

## Figure 6.

Schematic representation of the wild type and mutant VWF promoter sequences –487 to +247 that were fused to LacZ gene. Transacting factors functioning as repressors (NF1, Oct-1, and NF-Y shown by ovals) and activators (Ets, NF-Y and GATA6 shown as rectangles) are shown. Binding sequences of NF1 and two NF-Y binding sites, one functioning as an activator (when interacting with the CCAAT sequence) and the other functioning as a repressor when binding to the novel CCGCAGCCC sequence are shown. Solid rectangle represented as T indicates the TATA element. Arrow designated +1 represents transcription start site. (A) Wild type VWF promoter is represented. (B-D) Mutant VWF promoters with mutations in NF1 (B), NF-Y(C) and combined mutation of both NF1 and NF-Y (D) are represented. Base substitution mutation in NF1 and NFY binding sites are underlined.



#### Figure 7.

Real-time PCR analyses of LacZ transgene mRNA in LacZK transgenic mice and endogenous VWF and tie2 mRNA in various organs of all transgenic mice. (A) RNAs (1µg) prepared from various organs of transgenic mice were subjected to reverse transcription and real-time PCR analyses to detect endogenous VWF, tie2 and GAPDH. The graph represents the relative levels of VWF and Tie2 normalized to GAPDH. Results represent the averages of RNA from 8 mice (one of each line of transgenic mice for LacZK, LacZKNF1, LacZKNFY and LacZKNF1-NFY) for each organ. (B) RNAs (1µg) prepared from various organs of LacZK transgenic mice (F2) were subjected to reverse transcription and real-time PCR analyses to detect LacZ transgene and endogenous GAPDH for normalization. Results represent the averages of RNA from 2 mice for each organ.



#### Figure 8.

Real-time PCR analyses of LacZ transgene mRNA in LacZK<sup>NF1</sup>, transgenic mice. RNAs (1µg) prepared from various organs of 3 independent lines of LacZKNF1 transgenic mice (F2) were subjected to reverse transcription and real-time PCR analyses to detect LacZ transgene and endogenous GAPDH for normalization. Results represent the averages of RNA from 2 mice for each organ.



#### Figure 9.

Real-time PCR analyses of LacZ transgene mRNA in LacZKNFY and LacZKNF1-NFY transgenic mice. RNAs (1µg) prepared from various organs of 2 independent lines of LacZKNFY transgenic mice (A) and 2 independent lines of LacZKNF1-NFY transgenic mice (B) were subjected to reverse transcription and real-time PCR analyses to detect LacZ transgene and endogenous GAPDH for normalization. The mice used for LacZKNFY for each line were F2, while the mice used for LacZKNF1-NFY included one F2 and one founder line. The transgenic mice designated line 94 is the founder line that could not be bred. Results represent the averages of RNA from 2 mice for each organ of the F2 (line 7) and two independent RNA preparation from the single line 94 mouse.



### Figure 10.

Immunohistochemical analyses of LacZ expression in various organs of transgenic mice. Sections (5  $\mu$ m) from formalin embedded heart, kidney, liver, lung and brain of the four transgenic mice (F1 generations) LacZK, LacZK<sup>NF1</sup>, LacZK<sup>NFY</sup> and LacZK<sup>NF1-NFY</sup> on tissue arrays were immunostained with anti- $\beta$ -galactosidase antibody as previously described (magnifications 400X).



## Figure 11.

Immunofluorescent analyses of NF1 isoforms expression in various organs of mice. Sections (5  $\mu$ m) from OCT frozen heart, kidney, lung and brain of a control C57Bl/6 mice that were arranged on tissue arrays were hybridized to specific antibodies to detect NF1-A, NF1-B, NF1-C and NF1-X isoforms of NF1 (all shown in red) and simultaneously to anti-PCAM antibody (shown in green) to detect endothelial cells as described in materials and methods. The results are representative of two independent hybridizations for each NF1 plus PECAM antibody (magnifications 600X). The insets demonstrate the magnified nuclei of the endothelial cells.



#### Figure 12.

Model describing the hypothesis tested in this proposal. (A) NF1 and NFY function as repressors and inhibit promoter activity in all cell types. (B) In brain endothelial cells factors that interact with -487 to +247 sequences, including GATA6 and HLP cooperate to inhibit repressors' activities. (C) In other endothelial cell types, for instance in lung, a different cohort of factors are necessary to overcome inhibitory function of repressors. These factors interact with VWF sequences outside -487 to +247, but may cooperate with one or more of factors that interact with -487 to +247 (for example HLP). For instance, sequences in intron 51 that interact with YY1 are necessary for promoter activation in lung. We hypothesize that differential modification of factors in endothelial cells of different organs could contribute to this process. For instance GATA6 may be modified in an endothelial-specific manner only in brain but not lung endothelial cells, thus rendering it an activator that in conjunction with HLP overcomes the repression of NFY and NF1 in the brain but not lung endothelial cells. In lung however, similar situation may exist with regard to YY1, thus leading to cooperation of YY1 with HLP to achieve activation in lung endothelium.



# **Bibliography**

- (1) Florey. The endothelial cell. British medical journal 1966;5512:487-90.
- (2) Aird WC. Phenotypic heterogeneity of the endothelium: I. Structure, function, and mechanisms. Circ Res 2007 Feb 2;100(2):158-73.
- (3) Auerbach R, Kubai L, Sidky Y. Angiogenesis induction by tumors, embryonic tissues, and lymphocytes. Cancer Res 1976 Sep;36(9 PT 2):3435-40.
- (4) Maciag T. Angiogenesis. Prog Hemost Thromb 1984;7:167-82.
- (5) Bendayan M. Morphological and cytochemical aspects of capillary permeability. Microscopy Research and Technique 2002;57(5):327-49.
- (6) Galley HF, Webster NR. Physiology of the endothelium. Br J Anaesth 2004 Jul;93(1):105-13.
- (7) Augustin HG, Kozian DH, Johnson RC. Differentiation of endothelial cells: Analysis of the constitutive and activated endothelial cell phenotypes. BioEssays 1994;16(12):901-6.
- (8) Coultas L, Chawengsaksophak K, Rossant J. Endothelial cells and VEGF in vascular development. Nature 2005;438(7070):937-45.
- (9) Cines DB, Pollak ES, Buck CA, Loscalzo J, Zimmerman GA, McEver RP, et al. Endothelial cells in physiology and in the pathophysiology of vascular disorders. Blood 1998;91(10):3527-61.
- (10) Aird WC. Mechanisms of endothelial cell heterogeneity in health and disease. Circ Res 2006;98(2):159-62.
- (11) Hirashima M, Suda T. Differentiation of arterial and venous endothelial cells and vascular morphogenesis. Endothelium 2006 Mar;13(2):137-45.
- (12) Davy A, Soriano P. Ephrin signaling in vivo: look both ways. Dev Dyn 2005 Jan;232(1):1-10.
- (13) Lawson ND, Scheer N, Pham VN, Kim CH, Chitnis AB, Campos-Ortega JA, et al. Notch signaling is required for arterial-venous differentiation during embryonic vascular development. Development 2001;128(19):3675-83.

- (14) Hiratsuka S, Minowa O, Kuno J, Noda T, Shibuya M. Flt-1 lacking the tyrosine kinase domain is sufficient for normal development and angiogenesis in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1998 Aug 4;95(16):9349-54.
- (15) You LR, Lin FJ, Lee CT, DeMayo FJ, Tsai MJ, Tsai SY. Suppression of Notch signalling by the COUP-TFII transcription factor regulates vein identity. Nature 2005;435(7038):98-104.
- (16) Garcia-Cardena G, Comander J, Anderson KR, Blackman BR, Gimbrone MA, Jr. Biomechanical activation of vascular endothelium as a determinant of its functional phenotype. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2001 Apr 10;98(8):4478-85.
- (17) Claxton S, Fruttiger M. Oxygen modifies artery differentiation and network morphogenesis in the retinal vasculature. Dev Dyn 2005 Jul;233(3):822-8.
- (18) Aird WC. Endothelial cell heterogeneity. Crit Care Med 2003 Apr;31(4 Suppl):S221-S230.
- (19) Aird WC. Phenotypic heterogeneity of the endothelium: II. Representative vascular beds. Circ Res 2007 Feb 2;100(2):174-90.
- (20) Brutsaert DL. Cardiac endothelial-myocardial signaling: Its role in cardiac growth, contractile performance, and rhythmicity. Physiological Reviews 2003;83(1):59-115.
- (21) Brutsaert DL, Fransen P, Andries LJ, De Keulenaer GW, Sys SU. Cardiac endothelium and myocardial function. Cardiovascular Research 1998;38(2):281-90.
- (22) Yamamoto K, De Waard V, Fearns C, Loskutoff DJ. Tissue distribution and regulation of murine von Willebrand factor gene expression in vivo. Blood 1998;92(8):2791-801.
- (23) Cai H, Li Z, Goette A, Mera F, Honeycutt C, Feterik K, et al. Downregulation of endocardial nitric oxide synthase expression and nitric oxide production in atrial fibrillation: Potential mechanisms for atrial thrombosis and stroke. Circulation 2002;106(22):2854-8.
- (24) Koop EA, De Sousa Lopes SMC, Feiken E, Bluyssen HAR, Van Der Valk M, Voest EE, et al. Receptor protein tyrosine phosphatase ? expression as a marker for endothelial cell heterogeneity; analysis of RPTP? gene expression using LacZ knock-in mice. International Journal of Developmental Biology 2003;47(5):345-54.
- (25) Balyasnikova IV, Metzger R, Visintine DJ, Dimasius V, Sun ZL, Berestetskaya YV, et al. Selective rat lung endothelial targeting with a new set of monoclonal antibodies to angiotensin I-converting enzyme. Pulmonary Pharmacology and Therapeutics 2005;18(4):251-67.

- (26) Gebb S, Stevens T. On lung endothelial cell heterogeneity. Microvascular Research 2004;68(1):1-12.
- (27) Pusztaszeri MP, Seelentag W, Bosman FT. Immunohistochemical expression of endothelial markers CD31, CD34, von Willebrand factor, and Fli-1 in normal human tissues. Journal of Histochemistry and Cytochemistry 2006;54(4):385-95.
- (28) Stenmark KR, Abman SH. Lung vascular development: Implications for the pathogenesis of bronchopulmonary dysplasia. Annual Review of Physiology 2005;67:623-61.
- (29) Mitzner W, Wagner EM. Vascular remodeling in the circulations of the lung. Journal of Applied Physiology 2004;97(5):1999-2004.
- (30) Moldobaeva A, Wagner EM. Heterogeneity of bronchial endothelial cell permeability. American Journal of Physiology - Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology 2002;283(3 27-3).
- (31) Feuerhake F, chsl G, Bals R, Welsch U. Expression of inducible cell adhesion molecules in the normal human lung: Immunohistochemical study of their distribution in pulmonary blood vessels. Histochemistry and Cell Biology 1998;110(4):387-94.
- (32) Carpenter B, Lin Y, Stoll S, Raffai RL, McCuskey R, Wang R. VEGF is crucial for the hepatic vascular development required for lipoprotein uptake. Development 2005;132(14):3293-303.
- (33) Cleaver O, Melton DA. Endothelial signaling during development. Nature Medicine 2003;9(6):661-8.
- (34) Wong J, Johnston B, Lee SS, Bullard DC, Smith CW, Beaudet AL, et al. A minimal role for selectins in the recruitment of leukocytes into the inflamed liver microvasculature. Journal of Clinical Investigation 1997;99(11):2782-90.
- (35) Clemens MG, Zhang JX. Regulation of sinusoidal perfusion: In vivo methodology and control by endothelins. Seminars in Liver Disease 1999;19(4):383-96.
- (36) Kamoun WS, Karaa A, Kresge N, Merkel SM, Korneszczuk K, Clemens MG. LPS inhibits endothelin-1-induced endothelial NOS activation in hepatic sinusoidal cells through a negative feedback involving caveolin-1. Hepatology 2006;43(1):182-90.
- (37) Rostgaard J, Qvortrup K. Electron microscopic demonstrations of filamentous molecular sieve plugs in capillary fenestrae. Microvascular Research 1997;53(1):1-13.

- (38) Zhang J, Hill CE. Differential connexin expression in preglomerular and postglomerular vasculature: Accentuation during diabetes. Kidney International 2005;68(3):1171-85.
- (39) Inai T, Sengoku A, Guan X, Hirose E, Iida H, Shibata Y. Heterogeneity in expression and subcellular localization of tight junction proteins, claudin-10 and -15, examined by RT-PCR and immunofluorescence microscopy. Archives of Histology and Cytology 2005;68(5):349-60.
- (40) Lucien N, Bruneval P, Lasbennes F, Belair MF, Mandet C, Cartron JP, et al. UT-B1 urea transporter is expressed along the urinary and gastrointestinal tracts of the mouse. American Journal of Physiology Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology 2005;288(4 57-4).
- (41) Yamashita T, Sekiguchi A, Iwasaki YK, Sagara K, Hatano S, Iinuma H, et al. Thrombomodulin and Tissue Factor Pathway Inhibitor in Endocardium of Rapidly Paced Rat Atria. Circulation 2003;108(20):2450-2.
- (42) Chalajour F, Treede H, Ebrahimnejad A, Lauke H, Reichenspurner H, Ergun S. Angiogenic activation of valvular endothelial cells in aortic valve stenosis. Experimental Cell Research 2004;298(2):455-64.
- (43) Okruhlicova L, Tribulova N, Weismann P, Sotnikova R. Ultrastructure and histochemistry of rat myocardial capillary endothelial cells in response to diabetes and hypertension. Cell Research 2005;15(7):532-8.
- (44) Rockey DC, Chung JJ. Reduced nitric oxide production by endothelial cells in cirrhotic rat liver: Endothelial dysfunction in portal hypertension. Gastroenterology 1998;114(2):344-51.
- (45) Couvelard A, Scoazec JY, Feldmann G. Expression of cell-cell and cell-matrix adhesion proteins by sinusoidal endothelial cells in the normal and cirrhotic human liver. American Journal of Pathology 1993;143(3):738-52.
- (46) Mohammed NA, El-Aleem SA, El-Hafiz HA, McMahon RFT. Distribution of constitutive (COX-1) and inducible (COX-2) cyclooxygenase in postviral human liver cirrhosis: A possible role for COX-2 in the pathogenesis of liver cirrhosis. Journal of Clinical Pathology 2004;57(4):350-4.
- (47) Okuda T, Tokuda N, Numata SI, Ito M, Ohta M, Kawamura K, et al. Targeted disruption of Gb3/CD77 synthase gene resulted in the complete deletion of globo-series glycosphingolipids and loss of sensitivity to verotoxins. J BIOL CHEM 2006;281(15):10230-5.
- (48) Cooper ME, Vranes D, Youssef S, Stacker SA, Cox AJ, Rizkalla B, et al. Increased renal expression of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and its receptor VEGFR-2 in experimental diabetes. Diabetes 1999;48(11):2229-39.

- (49) Kikuchi Y, Ikee R, Hemmi N, Hyodo N, Saigusa T, Namikoshi T, et al. Fractalkine and its receptor, CX3CR1, upregulation in streptozotocin- induced diabetic kidneys. Nephron - Experimental Nephrology 2004;97(1).
- (50) Gooch JL, rgola PE, Guler RL, Abboud HE, Barnes JL. Differential expression of calcineurin A isoforms in the diabetic kidney. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology 2004;15(6):1421-9.
- (51) Hiragushi K, Wada J, Eguchi J, Matsuoka T, Yasuhara A, Hashimoto I, et al. The role of adrenomedullin and receptors in glomerular hyperfiltration in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. Kidney International 2004;65(2):540-50.
- (52) Fish JE, Marsden PA. Endothelial nitric oxide synthase: Insight into cellspecific gene regulation in the vascular endothelium. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences 2006;63(2):144-62.
- (53) Nguyen CT, Gonzales FA, Jones PA. Altered chromatin structure associated with methylation-induced gene silencing in cancer cells: correlation of accessibility, methylation, MeCP2 binding and acetylation. Nucleic Acids Res 2001 Nov 15;29(22):4598-606.
- (54) Minami T, Aird WC. Endothelial cell gene regulation. Trends Cardiovasc Med 2005;15(5).
- (55) Prandini MH, Dreher I, Bouillot S, Benkerri S, Moll T, Huber P. The human VE-cadherin promoter is subjected to organ-specific regulation and is activated in tumour angiogenesis. Oncogene 2005 Apr 21;24(18):2992-3001.
- (56) Okada Y, Yano K, Jin E, Funahashi N, Kitayama M, Doi T, et al. A threekilobase fragment of the human Robo4 promoter directs cell type-specific expression in endothelium. Circ Res 2007 Jun 22;100(12):1712-22.
- (57) Dekker RJ, van SS, Fontijn RD, Salamanca S, de Groot PG, VanBavel E, et al. Prolonged fluid shear stress induces a distinct set of endothelial cell genes, most specifically lung Kruppel-like factor (KLF2). Blood 2002 Sep 1;100(5):1689-98.
- (58) Lin Z, Kumar A, SenBanerjee S, Staniszewski K, Parmar K, Vaughan DE, et al. Kruppel-like factor 2 (KLF2) regulates endothelial thrombotic function. Circ Res 2005 Mar 18;96(5):e48-e57.
- (59) Kuhnert F, Campagnolo L, Xiong JW, Lemons D, Fitch MJ, Zou Z, et al. Dosage-dependent requirement for mouse Vezf1 in vascular system development. Dev Biol 2005 Jul 1;283(1):140-56.
- (60) Janknecht R, Nordheim A. Gene regulation by Ets proteins. Biochim Biophys Acta 1993 Dec 23;1155(3):346-56.

- (61) Li L, He S, Sun JM, Davie JR. Gene regulation by Sp1 and Sp3. Biochem Cell Biol 2004 Aug;82(4):460-71.
- (62) Wu J, Iwata F, Grass JA, Osborne CS, Elnitski L, Fraser P, et al. Molecular determinants of NOTCH4 transcription in vascular endothelium. MOL CELL BIOL 2005;25(4):1458-74.
- (63) Kemler I, Schaffner W. Octamer transcription factors and the cell typespecificity of immunoglobulin gene expression. FASEB J 1990 Mar;4(5):1444-9.
- (64) Risau W. Differentiation of endothelium. FASEB Journal 1995;9(10):926-33.
- (65) Garlanda C, Dejana E. Heterogeneity of endothelial cells: Specific markers. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology 1997;17(7):1193-202.
- (66) Schlaeger TM, Bartunkova S, Lawitts JA, Teichmann G, Risau W, Deutsch U, et al. Uniform vascular-endothelial-cell-specific gene expression in both embryonic and adult transgenic mice. PROC NATL ACAD SCI U S A 1997;94(7):3058-63.
- (67) Aird WC, Jahroudi N, Weiler-Guettler H, Rayburn HB, Rosenberg RD. Human von Willebrand factor gene sequences target expression to a subpopulation of endothelial cells in transgenic mice. PROC NATL ACAD SCI U S A 1995;92(10):4567-71.
- (68) Schlaeger TM, Qin Y, Fujiwara Y, Magram J, Sato TN. Vascular endothelial cell lineage-specific promoter in transgenic mice. Development 1995;121(4):1089-98.
- (69) Karantzoulis-Fegaras F, Antoniou H, Lai SL, Kulkarni G, D'Abreo C, Wong GK, et al. Characterization of the human endothelial nitric-oxide synthase promoter. J Biol Chem 1999 Jan 29;274(5):3076-93.
- (70) Teichert AM, Miller TL, Tai SC, Wang Y, Bei X, Robb GB, et al. In vivo expression profile of an endothelial nitric oxide synthase promoter-reporter transgene. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2000 Apr;278(4):H1352-H1361.
- (71) Guillot PV, Liu L, Kuivenhoven JA, Guan J, Rosenberg RD, Aird WC. Targeting of human eNOS promoter to the Hprt locus of mice leads to tissuerestricted transgene expression. Physiological Genomics 2000;2000(2):77-83.
- (72) Sadler JE. Biochemistry and genetics of von Willebrand factor. Annual Review of Biochemistry 1998;67:395-424.
- (73) Sadler JE. von Willebrand factor. J Biol Chem 1991 Dec 5;266(34):22777-80.
- (74) Jahroudi N, Lynch DC. Endothelial-cell-specific regulation of von Willebrand factor gene expression. Mol Cell Biol 1994 Feb;14(2):999-1008.

- (75) Rodeghiero F. von Willebrand disease: still an intriguing disorder in the era of molecular medicine. Haemophilia 2002 May;8(3):292-300.
- (76) Jager A, van H, V, Kostense PJ, Emeis JJ, Yudkin JS, Nijpels G, et al. von Willebrand factor, C-reactive protein, and 5-year mortality in diabetic and nondiabetic subjects: the Hoorn Study. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1999 Dec;19(12):3071-8.
- (77) Peng Y, Jahroudi N. The NFY transcription factor functions as a repressor and activator of the von Willebrand factor promoter. Blood 2002;99(7):2408-17.
- (78) Jahroudi N, Ardekani AM, Greenberger JS. An NF1-like protein functions as a repressor of the von Willebrand factor promoter. J BIOL CHEM 1996;271(35):21413-21.
- (79) Schwachtgen JL, Janel N, Barek L, Duterque-Coquillaud M, Ghysdael J, Meyer D, et al. Ets transcription factors bind and transactivate the core promoter of the von Willebrand factor gene. Oncogene 1997;15(25):3091-102.
- (80) Schwachtgen JL, Remacle JE, Janel N, Brys R, Huylebroeck D, Meyer D, et al. Oct-1 is involved in the transcriptional repression of the von Willebrand factor gene promoter. Blood 1998;92(4):1247-58.
- (81) Peng Y, Jahroudi N. The NFY transcription factor inhibits von Willebrand factor promoter activation in non-endothelial cells through recruitment of histone deacetylases. J BIOL CHEM 2003 Mar 7;278(10):8385-94.
- (82) Wang X, Peng Y, Ma Y, Jahroudi N. Histone H1-like protein participates in endothelial cell-specific activation of the von Willebrand factor promoter. Blood 2004 Sep 15;104(6):1725-32.
- (83) Peng Y, Stewart D, Li W, Hawkins M, Kulak S, Ballermann B, et al. Irradiation modulates association of NF-Y with histone-modifying cofactors PCAF and HDAC. Oncogene 2007 Nov 29;26(54):7576-83.
- (84) Bertagna A, Jahroudi N. The NFY transcription factor mediates induction of the von Willebrand factor promoter by irradiation. Thromb Haemost 2001;85(5):837-44.
- (85) Ardekani AM, Greenberger JS, Jahroudi N. Two repressor elements inhibit expression of the von Willebrand factor gene promoter in vitro. Thromb Haemost 1998;80(3):488-94.
- (86) Coffin JD, Harrison J, Schwartz S, Heimark R. Angioblast differentiation and morphogenesis of the vascular endothelium in the mouse embryo. Dev Biol 1991 Nov;148(1):51-62.
- (87) Page C, Rose M, Yacoub M, Pigott R. Antigenic heterogeneity of vascular endothelium. Am J Pathol 1992 Sep;141(3):673-83.

- (88) Mancuso DJ, Tuley EA, Westfield LA, Worrall NK, Shelton-Inloes BB, Sorace JM, et al. Structure of the gene for human von Willebrand factor. J BIOL CHEM 1989;264(33):19514-27.
- (89) Raphael SS, Culling CFA, Hyde TA, Inwood MJ, Mellor LD, Sergovich F, et al. Dehydration, Clearing, And Embedding. In: Raphael SS, editor. Lynch's Medical Laboratory Technology. 3rd Edition ed. Philadelphia: W. B. Saunders Company; 1976. p. 889-902.
- (90) Paget GE, Thompson R. SOP/PAT/059: Processing of Fixed Tissues. In: Paget GE, Thompson R, editors. Standard Operating Procedures in Pathology.Baltimore: University Park Press; 1979. p. 150-4.
- (91) Kleinschmidt AM, Nassiri M, Stitt MS, Wasserloos K, Watkins SC, Pitt BR, et al. Sequences in intron 51 of the von Willebrand factor gene target promoter activation to a subset of lung endothelial cells in transgenic mice. J BIOL CHEM 2008 Feb 1;283(5):2741-50.
- (92) Jahroudi N, Schmaier A, Srikanth S, Mahdi F, Lutka FA, Bowser R. Von Willebrand factor promoter targets the expression of amyloid beta protein precursor to brain vascular endothelial cells of transgenic mice. J Alzheimers Dis 2003 Apr;5(2):149-58.
- (93) Hough C, Cuthbert CD, Notley C, Brown C, Hegadorn C, Berber E, et al. Cell type-specific regulation of von Willebrand factor expression by the E4BP4 transcriptional repressor. Blood 2005 Feb 15;105(4):1531-9.
- (94) Aird WC, Edelberg JM, Weiler-Guettler H, Simmons WW, Smith TW, Rosenberg RD. Vascular bed-specific expression of an endothelial cell gene is programmed by the tissue microenvironment. Journal of Cell Biology 1997;138(5):1117-24.
- (95) Kappel A, Ronicke V, Damert A, Flamme I, Risau W, Breier G. Identification of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) receptor-2 (Flk-1) promoter/enhancer sequences sufficient for angioblast and endothelial cellspecific transcription in transgenic mice. Blood 1999 Jun 15;93(12):4284-92.
- (96) Kawanami O, Jin E, Ghazizadeh M, Fujiwara M, Jiang L, Nagashima M, et al. Heterogeneous distribution of thrombomodulin and von Willebrand factor in endothelial cells in the human pulmonary microvessels. J Nippon Med Sch 2000 Apr;67(2):118-25.
- (97) Pham NL, Franzen A, Levin EG. NF1 regulatory element functions as a repressor of tissue plasminogen activator expression. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2004 May;24(5):982-7.
- (98) Gronostajski RM. Roles of the NFI/CTF gene family in transcription and development. Gene 2000 May 16;249(1-2):31-45.